

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Carbó-Valverde, Santiago; Chakravorti, Sujit; Rodríguez Fernández, Francisco

Working Paper

Regulating two-sided markets: an empirical investigation

ECB Working Paper, No. 1137

Provided in Cooperation with:

European Central Bank (ECB)

Suggested Citation: Carbó-Valverde, Santiago; Chakravorti, Sujit; Rodríguez Fernández, Francisco (2009): Regulating two-sided markets: an empirical investigation, ECB Working Paper, No. 1137, European Central Bank (ECB), Frankfurt a. M.

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/153571

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



RETAIL PAYMENTS: INTEGRATION AND INNOVATION

WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 1137 / DECEMBER 2009

REGULATING TWO-SIDED MARKETS AN EMPIRICAL **INVESTIGATION** by Santiago Carbó-Valverde, Sujit Chakravorti and Francisco Rodríguez Fernández















WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO 1137 / DECEMBER 2009

RETAIL PAYMENTS: INTEGRATION AND INNOVATION

REGULATING TWO-SIDED MARKETS AN EMPIRICAL INVESTIGATION '

by Santiago Carbó-Valverde², Sujit Chakravorti³ and Francisco Rodríguez Fernández⁴



In 2009 all ECB publications feature a motif taken from the €200 banknote.

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.europa.eu or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=1511809.





I We thank Mary Burke, Christopher Foote, Fabiá Gumbau, Charles Kahn, Richard Rosen, Scott Schuh, Joanna Stavins, Marianne Verdier and seminar participants at the Federal Reserve Banks of Boston and Chicago, the Retail Payments: Integration & Innovation conference held at the European Central Bank, the 2009 European Economic Association Meetings and the 2009 Western Economic Association International Meetings for their comments. The views expressed are those of the authors and do not represent the views of the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago or the Federal Reserve System.

2 University of Granada, Department of Economic Theory and History, Campus Universitario de Cartuja s/n, E-18071 Granada, Spain and Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago; e-mail: scarbo@ugr.es

3 Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, 230 South LaSalle Street, Chicago, Illinois 60604-1413,

United States; sujit.chakravorti@chi.frb.org

4 University of Granada, Department of Economic Theory and History, Campus Universitario de Cartuja s/n, E-18071 Granada, Spain; e-mail: franrod@ugr.es

Retail payments: integration and innovation

"Retail payments: integration and innovation" was the title of the joint conference organised by the European Central Bank (ECB) and De Nederlandsche Bank (DNB) in Frankfurt am Main on 25 and 26 May 2009. Around 200 high-level policy-makers, academics, experts and central bankers from more than 30 countries of all five continents attended the conference, reflecting the high level of interest in retail payments.

The aim of the conference was to better understand current developments in retail payment markets and to identify possible future trends, by bringing together policy conduct, research activities and market practice. The conference was organised around two major topics: first, the economic and regulatory implications of a more integrated retail payments market and, second, the strands of innovation and modernisation in the retail payments business. To make innovations successful, expectations and requirements of retail payment users have to be taken seriously. The conference has shown that these expectations and requirements are strongly influenced by the growing demand for alternative banking solutions, the increasing international mobility of individuals and companies, a loss of trust in the banking industry and major social trends such as the ageing population in developed countries. There are signs that customers see a need for more innovative payment solutions. Overall, the conference led to valuable findings which will further stimulate our efforts to foster the economic underpinnings of innovation and integration in retail banking and payments.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all participants in the conference. In particular, we would like to acknowledge the valuable contributions of all presenters, discussants, session chairs and panellists, whose names can be found in the enclosed conference programme. Their main statements are summarised in the ECB-DNB official conference summary. Twelve papers related to the conference have been accepted for publication in this special series of the ECB Working Papers Series.

Behind the scenes, a number of colleagues from the ECB and DNB contributed to both the organisation of the conference and the preparation of this conference report. In alphabetical order, many thanks to Alexander Al-Haschimi, Wilko Bolt, Hans Brits, Maria Foskolou, Susan Germain de Urday, Philipp Hartmann, Päivi Heikkinen, Monika Hempel, Cornelia Holthausen, Nicole Jonker, Anneke Kosse, Thomas Lammer, Johannes Lindner, Tobias Linzert, Daniela Russo, Wiebe Ruttenberg, Heiko Schmiedel, Francisco Tur Hartmann, Liisa Väisänen, and Pirjo Väkeväinen.

Gertrude Tumpel-Gugerell Member of the Executive Board European Central Bank Lex Hoogduin Member of the Executive Board De Nederlandsche Bank

© European Central Bank, 2009

Address

Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address

Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone

+49 69 1344 0

Website

http://www.ecb.europa.eu

Fax

+49 69 1344 6000

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/scientific/wps/date/html/index.en.html

ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract		4
1	Introduction	5
2	Relevant literature	9
3	Effects of interchange fee regulation in other countries	12
4	Spanish regulatory developments	15
5	The empirical model	19
6	Our dataset	25
7	Results	27
8	Robustness tests	33
9	Conclusion	34
References		36
Tables		38
European Central Bank Working Paper Series		47

Abstract

We study the effect of government encouraged or mandated interchange fee ceilings on consumer and merchant adoption and usage of payment cards in an economy where card acceptance is far from complete. We believe that we are the first to use bank-level data to study the impact of interchange fee regulation. We find that consumer and merchant welfare improved because of increased consumer and merchant adoption leading to greater usage of payment cards. We also find that bank revenues increased when interchange fees were reduced although these results are critically dependent on merchant acceptance being far from complete at the beginning and during the implementation of interchange fee ceilings. In addition, there is most likely a threshold interchange fee below which social welfare decreases although our data currently does not allow us to quantify it.

Key words: consumer payment choice, merchant payment adoption, network competition

JEL Codes: L11, G21, D53

1. Introduction

The economics of how platforms set prices for two or more distinct end users is receiving increasing attention by economists and policymakers. This literature, commonly referred to as two-sided markets, blends together the network economic literature with the multiproduct firm literature. Rochet and Tirole (2004) define a two-sided market when the price structure, or the share that each end-user pays the platform, affects the total volume of transactions when end-users are unable to negotiate prices based on costs to participate on a platform. Examples of platforms include media portals, online dating sites, and payment networks. Often platforms will charge asymmetric prices to each side of the market. For example, online news providers may not charge eyeballs that view their sites but earn all of their revenue from advertisers. In this article, we empirically test the impact of government intervention in the pricing of a service that has two distinct end-users.

We focus on the impact of government-encouraged interchange fee reductions in payment card networks on adoption and usage of credit and debit cards. Today, payment cards have become an indispensable part of the retail economy in advanced economies. Recently, a broader set of merchants, such as fast food chains, doctors' offices, and taxis, have started to accept card-based payments. For example, American Airlines along with some other U.S. airlines began accepting only payment cards for inflight purchases on their domestic routes since June 2009. Furthermore, some local governments have mandated that taxis accept payment cards. Greater acceptance and usage of payment

¹ For a broader description of this market, see Armstrong (2006), Caillaud and Jullien (2003), Jullien (2001), Rochet and Tirole (2006), Rysman (2009), and Weyl (2009).

cards suggests that a growing number of consumers and merchants prefer payment cards to cash and checks.

Payment networks are comprised of consumers, their financial institutions (known as issuers), merchants, their financial institutions (known as acquirers) and a network operator. A consumer makes a purchase from a merchant. Generally, the merchant charges the same price regardless of the type of payment instrument used to make the purchase. Consumers often pay annual membership fees to their financial institutions for credit cards and may pay service charges for a bundle of services associated with transactions accounts. Merchants pay fees known as merchant discounts. Acquirers pay an interchange fee to the issuer. The underlying payment fee structure is determined by the interrelated bilateral relationships among the players, their bargaining power, and the ability of the network to maximize profits for its members.

Payment card networks continue to face antitrust scrutiny by public authorities regarding the pricing of payment services (Bradford and Hayashi, 2008). Public authorities are concerned about the collective setting of interchange fees by banks to extract rents from merchants and use these rents to encourage consumers to use more costly payment instruments.² Some economists have argued that too much competition at the issuer level may result in distorting incentives to use more costly payment instruments.³

In this article, we test whether the fees set by the network are socially optimal. To our knowledge, we are the first to use bank-level data to study multiple government-

_

² The Reserve Bank of Australia (2008) states this motivation for their payment card regulation.

³ A similar argument is made by Donze and Dubec (2009) about the ATM market where collective setting of interchange fees coupled with downstream competition for ATM withdrawals may result in "too many" ATMs.

induced reductions in interchange fees. We use a simultaneous equation approach to test the impact of lower interchange fees on adoption and usage decisions of consumers and merchants. Furthermore, we also study the impact of lower interchange fees on issuer and acquirer revenues.

Specifically, we study the effects of several regulatory interventions in Spain during 1997 to 2007. Carbó Valverde et al. (2003) report that as a country Spain was more cash intensive than countries of similar size and geography. They report that in 2000, Spain had a currency to GDP ratio of 8.9 percent compared to 6.2 percent for Germany, 4.7 percent for Portugal, and 3.2 percent for France. Similarly, Spain had far fewer non-cash transactions per capita per year at 56 than Germany (177), Portugal (94), and France (196). Comparatively, Spain's acceptance of debit cards by merchants was extremely low resulting in low card usage.

We ask whether reductions in interchange fees can improve social welfare where network adoption externalities still exist. If more merchants adopt, consumers do not leave the card networks, and usage increases, we would argue that welfare for consumers and merchants has improved. We are able to study the impact of greater card adoption and lower interchange fees on bank revenue albeit with a very simplistic approach given data limitations. We are limiting our focus on the merchant adoption externality. Furthermore, how surplus is shared in the absence of externalities is not addressed in our analysis. In addition, we recognize that interchange fees may be reduced without government pressure and, in some markets, they have been lowered as a market response to attract more merchants. Thus, our results should not be viewed as a blanket endorsement for interchange fee regulation.

-CR

Our main results are as follows. First, merchant fees are strongly positively correlated with reductions in the interchange fee. Furthermore, we find strong evidence suggesting that merchant acceptance has increased because of a reduction in merchant fees. However, the increase in acceptance of debit and credit cards differ based on the level of the fee reduction and when it occurred. Nevertheless, our empirical analysis suggests that in payment card markets where merchant acceptance is low, reduction in interchange fees may be beneficial to get more merchants on board and increase payment card usage and reduce the merchant adoption externality.

Second, consumer adoption of payment cards did not significantly decrease over the period because of lower interchange fee revenue for issuers. Consumer preference towards payment cards differ based on a card's functionality. Adoption for debit cards by consumers may have reached a saturation point earlier than credit cards because they were adopted for their ATM functionality more than a decade before. In particular, the number of debit cards reached its peak in 2003 (33.1 million) and it has decreased since then to 31.5 million in 2007. However, Spanish consumers increased their holdings of credit cards even when annual fees increased suggesting that the market for credit cards had not reached its saturation point and consumers are willing to pay higher fees in exchange for greater merchant acceptance. The number of credit cards increased monotonically during the period, reaching 43 million in 2007.

Third, bank payment revenues from debit and credit card services are positively related to increased transactions resulting from lower interchange fees. Even though pertransaction revenues decreased, this loss in revenue is offset by greater transactional volume. In other words, intense competition between issuers for cardholders coupled

with relatively high interchange fees may have resulted in higher than revenue-maximizing and socially optimal interchange fees. However, there may be a critical interchange fee below which revenue for issuers and acquirers decreases. Furthermore, increased revenue may be associated with higher costs. Unfortunately, our dataset does not include issuer or acquirer costs. Nevertheless, reduction in interchange fees to some threshold level may be Pareto improving. However, in other countries such as the United States, interchange fees for new entrants such as grocery stores in the 1990s were reduced significantly to encourage merchant acceptance of payment cards without government intervention. Such market-based strategies also reduce the impact of the merchant adoption externality on social welfare and may be equally effective.

Our article is organized in the following way. In the next section, we discuss several theoretical economic models. We summarize the impact of interchange fee regulation in two other countries in section 3. In section 4, we discuss the market for payment services in Spain along with the regulatory actions taken by the public authorities. We discuss our empirical strategy in section 5. We describe our dataset in section 6. In section 7, we present our results. We discuss robustness tests in section 8. Finally, we offer some concluding remarks in section 9.

2. Relevant Literature

The theoretical literature on payment cards suggests that the interchange fee is a balancing mechanism that is necessary to bring both sides on board (Baxter, 1983 and Rochet and Tirole, 2002).⁴ In other words, one type of end user may be willing to subsidize the other type of end user resulting in both types being better off. If the

⁴ For a general survey of the payments economic literature, see Kahn and Roberds (2009).

interchange fee is too high, merchants will not adopt resulting in low usage and consumer adoption. If the interchange fee is too low, consumers may not have sufficient incentives to participate.

Using Rochet and Tirole's framework, a consumer will use a payment card if $b_B >$ f where b_B is the consumer's net benefit of using a payment card and f is the fee for using the card. The consumer fee, f, is assumed to decrease with increases in the interchange fee. The net benefit is defined as the additional benefit from using cards instead of an alternative such as cash. Similarly, merchants will accept cards if $b_S > m$ where b_S is the net benefit of the merchant to accept cards versus another payment alternative and m is the merchant fee to accept the card. The merchant fee is generally assumed to increase when the interchange fee increases.

Society benefits from card usage if:

$$b_B + b_S > c_I + c_A \tag{1}$$

where c_I and c_A are issuer and acquirer costs, respectively. Note that the joint benefits of end users must be greater than joint costs. This condition does not necessarily imply that costs be split evenly between consumers and merchants. The mechanism to balance the demands across end-users to recover costs is the interchange fee. In reality, there is heterogeneity among consumers and merchants regarding the level of benefits they derive from payment cards. Such heterogeneity may explain why all consumers and merchants do not adopt payment cards.

A key assumption is that consumers and merchants are unable to negotiate prices based on the type of payment instrument.⁵ If merchants are able to pass on payment costs, the level of interchange fees will not affect the usage of payment cards assuming

⁵ Some jurisdictions have prohibited no-surcharge rules but they existed in Spain during our sample period.

that the proportion of merchants accepting cards is constant.⁶ Given that merchants are restricted in setting prices based on payment instrument costs in many jurisdictions and merchants often do not differentiate prices in jurisdictions where they can, the level of the interchange fee affects the adoption and usage of payment cards.

Standard economic theory suggests that competition would increase consumer and merchant surplus. Some theoretical models predict that competition in a two-sided market environment may worsen social welfare. Rochet and Tirole (2004) and Guthrie and Wright (2007) find that network competition may yield a price structure that has a lower social welfare than when there is only one network. If competition is too strong on the consumer side, the network may extract too much from merchants resulting in higher than socially optimal interchange fees. Merchants generally accept cards from multiple networks and consumers choose their preferred issuer and network. Therefore, competition on the consumer side may be more intense especially intra network competition when merchants cannot discriminate card acceptance by issuer (Katz, 2005).

The empirical literature on payment cards has focused on certain aspects of the payment industry. One area that has received a significant amount of attention is the competitiveness of credit card interest rates. Ausubel (1991) suggests that card issuers may be able to extract greater surplus from consumers via higher interest rates. Calem and Mester (1995) maintain that issuers can extract surplus from their customers due to imperfect competition for high-balance customers, which is tied to information-based barriers to switching between issuers. Knittel and Stango (2003) argue that there may be

⁶ See Gans and King (2003) for a more general treatment of when interchange fees are neutral. Katz (2005) questions this result based on the level of pass-through between issuers and acquirers to consumers and merchants, respectively. Bolt and Chakravorti (2008a) consider different levels of pass-through in a theoretical model

tacit collusion on credit card interest rates by issuers around an U.S. state interest rate ceiling allowing for issuers to keep credit card interest rates high even when their costs decrease.

3. Effects of Interchange Fee Regulation in Other Countries

There are several jurisdictions where interchange fees were directly regulated or significant pressure was exerted by the public authorities on networks to reduce their interchange fees. In this section, we will discuss the impact of interventions in two countries—Australia and Mexico.

Concluding that surcharges alone would not put sufficient downward pressure on interchange fees, the Australian authorities imposed explicit interchange fee targets for the two large four-party payment networks—MasterCard and Visa—but did not impose any restrictions on three-party networks—American Express and Diners Club. In 2002, the RBA imposed weighted-average credit card interchange fee caps and later imposed per transaction targets for debit cards. As of April 2008, the weighted-average credit card interchange fees in the MasterCard and Visa networks must not exceed 0.50 percent of the value of transactions. The Visa debit weighted-average interchange fee cap must not exceed 12 cents (Australian) per transaction. The EFTPOS (electronic funds transfer at point of sale) interchange fees for transactions that do not include a cash-out component must be between 4 cents (Australian) and 5 cents (Australian) per transaction.

The Reserve Bank of Australia (2008a) reports that the interchange fee regulation, coupled with the removal of the no-surcharge rule, improved the price signals that

⁷ In four-party networks, the issuer and the acquirer need not be the same. In three-party networks, the issuer and acquirer are the same resulting in no explicit interchange fee between them.

consumers face when deciding which payment instruments to use. Specifically, annual fees for credit cards increased and the value of the rewards decreased. The Reserve Bank of Australia (2008a) calculates that for an AUS\$100 transaction, the cost to consumers increased from –AUS\$1.30 to –AUS\$1.10 for consumers who pay off their balances in full every month. A negative per transaction cost results when card benefits such as rewards and interest-free loans are greater than payment card fees.⁸

In its recent five-year review of their payment card policies, the Australian Payments System Board suggested that the explicit regulation of interchange fees be removed subject to certain conditions. In other words, the authorities will remove restrictions if the payment card networks do not raise their fees beyond some threshold. However, the actual threshold is not quantified.

Those who oppose the Australian interchange fee regulation argue that consumers have been harmed by reduced rewards and higher fees and have not shared in the cost savings—in terms of lower prices for goods and services. However, measuring price effects over time of interchange fee regulation is difficult.

Another interesting case where government authorities exerted pressure to decrease interchange fees occurred in Mexico. Similar to the RBA in Australia, the Bank of Mexico—the Mexican central bank—has the authority to regulate retail payment systems throughout the country. Unlike the RBA, the Bank of Mexico used moral suasion to reduce interchange fees. The motivation of the Mexican authorities to reduce

⁸ For more discussion about the effect of rewards on card use, see Carbó-Valverde and Liñares-Zegarra (2009) and Ching and Hayashi (2006).

⁹ Discussions with Bank of Mexico staff, especially José Luis Negrín, were critical to our understanding of the Mexican payment card market.

interchange fees was to reduce merchant fees that were preventing greater adoption and usage of payment cards in Mexico.

Mexico's Bank Association (ABM) set different interchange fees for debit and credit cards in August 2004; prior to this time, the fees were the same for both types of cards. Interchange fees were set based on a merchant's monthly transaction volume. By August 2005, debit card interchange fee for the largest merchants fell from 2.00 percent to 0.75 percent while the credit card interchange fee fell from 2.00 percent to 1.80 percent. The category that applied to the smallest merchant was eliminated; as a consequence the interchange fee of this group fell from 3.50% to 1.95% and 3.50% to 2.70% for debit and credit cards, respectively. The ABM also proposed interchange fees based on a formula where the interchange fee balances out the issuing and acquiring banks' profits (net of interchange), and where profits are normalized by revenue (net of interchange). A reference rate is obtained and specific interchange fee levels are calculated for a number of merchant categories using proxies of the demand elasticity for each category.

In 2008, the ABM further reduced debit and credit card interchange fees. The new interchange fee levels implied a reduction in the weighted average of 12.5% and 9% for credit and debit, respectively. As expected, merchant fees also decreased. In order to follow the evolution of merchant fees, the Bank of Mexico gathered information from a sample of 1000 firms that accepted card payments. Their results are that from 2005 to

 $^{^{10}}$ The weighted average interchange fee for credit cards decreased from 1.84% to 1.61% and for debit cards decreased from .78% to .71%.

2008, the average merchant discount rate decreased 12.3% and 23.3% for credit and debit, respectively.¹¹

The installation of POS terminals was subsidized through a private, nonprofit trust fund called FIMPE that was initially funded by the banks. The banks received a tax credit from the government for their investment in FIMPE. It is important to note that there may be significant fixed and variable costs. The reduction in interchange fees resulted in lower per transaction costs, and the terminal subsidies reduced the fixed costs. As a result of reductions in interchange fees and POS subsidies, the number of POS terminals installed increased to 446,025 by the end of 2008 compared to 129,971 in 2002. POS transactions increased from 52 million in 2002 to 215 million by the end of 2008 of which 46% were credit card transactions.

4. Spanish Regulatory Developments

The Spanish and European antitrust authorities wanted to reduce the extraction of rents by payment networks, specifically issuers, resulting from the collective setting of interchange fees. During 1997-2007, there were four important events that significantly affected the setting of interchange fees in the Spanish payment card industry. During this period, debit card transactions increased from 156 million to 863 million and credit card transactions increased from 138 million to 1.037 billion.

The reduction in interchange fees increased the acceptance and usage of payment cards. As shown in Table 1, from 1997 to 2007, the number of debit cards has increased by 40.9% while the number of credit cards has increased by 207.1%. During the same

¹¹ From 2005 to 2008, the average merchant fee decreased from 2.85% to 2.50% and the average debit merchant fee declined from 2.53% to 1.94%.

period, the number of transactions increased substantially with debit card transactions being five times larger in 2007 than in 1997 while credit card transactions increased by seven times. Furthermore, the average number of POS transactions per card per year has increased from 7.1 to 27.8 during the same period.

Table 1 also shows that the average value of debit card transactions have increased significantly from 38.5 to 46 euros/transaction (in real terms) between 1997 and 2007. The increasing average real debit card per transaction value can be explained by the greater usage of these cards for payments of larger-value purchases at the POS. On the other hand, the average credit card transaction value decreased from 58.5 to 54.3 euros (in real terms). The lower average real credit card per transaction value may result from the greater usage of these cards among consumers for lower-value purchases. In addition, the lower value could be interpreted as greater penetration among cardholders with lower incomes along with greater acceptance by a more diverse set of merchants.

All government-initiated events are summarized in Table 2. These agreements were sponsored by the Spanish Ministry of the Economy or the Ministry of Industry, Tourism and Trade. In motivating this decision, the TDC stated "interchange fees will be reduced permitting an adequate adoption by merchants and, ultimately, by cardholders" (TDC Decision of 26 April 2000, No. A 264/99). In May 1999, the Spanish government promoted an agreement between the three payment networks and the main merchant associations to reduce maximum multilateral interchange fees to 2.75 per cent in July 2002. This agreement was accepted by the Spain's Antitrust Authority (TDC) in 2000 (TDC Decision of 26 April 2000, No. A 264/99). These maximum fees varied

significantly across merchant categories. For example, in 2002, the average interchange fee was 2.79% in casinos and 0.63% in gas stations.

To some extent the evolution of Spain's interchange fee regulation was affected by a European Commission (EC) decision regarding European Union (EU)-wide cross-border interchange fees in 2002. In 2002, the main government intervention was triggered by the European Commission (EC) Decision 2002/914/EC of 24 July, regarding Case No. COMP/29.373 – Visa International – Multilateral Interchange Fee. Following these investigations of the EC, the TDC followed suit and requested the Spanish payment card networks to provide information on Visa's methodology for determining interchange fee for Visa.

In May 2003, the Spanish Congress requested the TDC to investigate the setting of interchange fees and to follow the basic principles that the European Commission adopted for EU-wide cross-border interchange fees. The TDC issued a report on competition in commercial activities and related payments (*Informe sobre las condiciones de competencia en el sector de la distribución comercial*) and refused several proposals of the networks on their setting of interchange fees. In December 2003, the TDC announced that the 'special authorization' for the setting of interchange fees of the three payment card networks were going to be revoked although this decision was not formally undertaken until 2005.

¹² In July 2002, the EC cleared Visa's European cross-border interchange fees and offered some insights on the position of EU competition authorities with regard to the setting of interchange fees. The EC found that there were upward pressures on the level of interchange fees. More recently, MasterCard and the European Commission have agreed on a substantially lower multilateral interchange fees for cross-border European transactions. In addition, the European Commission has opened new discussions with Visa about these fees as well.

The third important event occurred from 2003 until 2005, when the networks tried to maintain their 'special authorization' for collective determination of interchange fees from the TDC. Several attempts from the industry to maintain their 'special authorization' for the setting of interchange fees were refused during these two years and the networks were requested to set levels of interchange fees that only reflect operating and fraud costs.

The most important regulatory action for the Spanish payment card industry took place in December 2005. The debate started in April 2005, when the TDC definitively refused the proposals of the networks regarding how interchange fees were set and asked them to use a 'cost-based' approach. The network operators were also requested to make a distinction between debit and credit card interchange fees. Some TDC resolutions required the card networks to only include two costs when setting domestic multilateral interchange fees (MIFs): a fixed cost for processing each transaction and a variable ad valorem cost for the risk of fraud (TDC Decisions of 11 April 2005, No. A 314/02, No. A 318/2002and No. A 287/00). As a consequence of this resolution, the Spanish government promoted an agreement between payment networks and merchant associations to establish a timetable to progressively reduce interchange and merchant fees from 2005 to 2009.

During January 2006 to December 2008, the highest interchange fee levels had to be reduced in a stepwise manner. Furthermore, a distinction had to be made between debit and credit interchange fees, with the former being a fixed amount per transaction and the latter being a percentage amount per transaction. For merchants with an annual value of point of sale card payment receipts less than €100 million, the credit card

interchange fee was set to decrease from 1.40% per transaction in 2006 to 0.35% in 2009 while for debit cards the reduction should be from €0.53 per transaction to €0.35 per transaction regardless of the purchase amount. From 2009 onwards, each of the card networks would audit their operations and provide a cost-based analysis for debit and credit cards. Unfortunately, we are not able to test the effects of the new regulatory framework because our sample period ends in 2007.

5. The Empirical Model

In this section, we explore the impact of reductions in debit and credit card interchange fees on consumers, merchants, and banks in an empirical model. Before discussing the empirical model, let us discuss the distinction between debit and credit cards. Debit cards allow consumers to access funds at their financial institutions that are transferred to the merchants' financial institutions and may be referred to as "pay now" cards because funds are debited from the cardholder's transactions account. Debit cards substitute for cash at the point of sale in the sense that the consumer uses the card to access funds at her bank instead of withdrawing cash. Debit card service fees are bundled with other demand deposit services. Credit cards allow consumers to access lines of credit at their financial institutions when making payment and may be referred to as "pay later" cards because the consumer pays the balance at a future date. Unlike debit cards, consumers can use credit cards to make purchases even if they do not have funds at their bank. Credit card services are stand alone products that usually have explicit fees in Spain.

In our empirical specification, we simultaneously estimate the equations that identify the extensive margins for merchants and consumers:

Consumer extensive margin =
$$f(X_{cem}, C, R)$$
 (2)

Merchant extensive margin =
$$f(X_{mem}, C, R)$$
 (3)

where X_{cem} and X_{mem} are the exclusion restrictions that identify the consumer extensive margin and the merchant extensive margin equations, respectively. C and R are the vectors of control factors and regulatory dummies that are common to all the equations, respectively. Similarly, we will also simultaneously estimate the equations that identify the intensive margins for consumers and merchants:

Consumer intensive margin =
$$f(X_{cim}, C, R)$$
 (4)

Merchant intensive margin =
$$f(X_{mim}, C, R)$$
 (5)

where X_{cim} and X_{mim} are the exclusion restrictions that identify the consumer intensive margin and the merchant intensive margin equations, respectively. The simultaneous estimation is undertaken for debit and credit cards separately.

The sets of simultaneous equations are estimated using a General Method of Moments (GMM) routine with bank (acquirer and issuer specific) fixed effects. All variables (except for the regulatory dummies) are expressed as difference between the logarithms of current period and the period before so that these differences can be interpreted as growth rates. The GMM estimation relies on a set of orthogonality conditions which are the products of equations and instruments. Initial conditions for estimation are obtained using three-stage least squares (3SLS), which is a restricted version of the simultaneous equation GMM model. Unlike the standard 3SLS, the GMM estimator allows for heteroskedasticity in addition to cross-equation correlation where

some variables (as merchant acceptance in our case) may appear both as exogenous and (lagged) endogenous variables in the different equations (Hansen, 1982; Wooldrige, 2002).

Our regression analysis may be subject to some endogeneity and autocorrelation issues. In order to control for endogeneity, lagged values of the explanatory variables in the different equations are employed as instruments. Focusing for a moment on the estimation of the set of equations, this treatment eliminates the most obvious source of endogeneity. The primary concern, however, is that some immeasurable aspect of the environment in which banks operate is associated with the acceptance, issuance or usage of cards. Therefore, we also use a simple time trend to control for those otherwise immeasurable aspects of the change in markets over time. The Sargan or J test of overidentifying restrictions is also computed in order to examine the identification of the model with the selected set of instruments under the null hypothesis of correct identifying restrictions. As for potential autocorrelation problems, we also include AR(1) and AR(2) tests of first- and second-order autocorrelation of residuals, respectively, which are asymptotically distributed as a standard normal N(0,1) under the null of no serial correlation.

We consider bank size and the local crime rate where the bank operates as control variables in vector *C*. Given that payment processing is a scale business, we take bank size (in terms of the number of debit/credit transactions over total transactions in the network where the bank operates) to control for any increase in bank size during the sample period. In order to control the (mainly upward) trend in the data for merchant

¹³ We also have used GDP and CPI instead of a linear time trend. The qualitative results remain the same regardless of type of variable we use for accounting for strong trends in the data.

acceptance, number of cards and number of transactions, all equations also incorporate a linear time trend.

To capture the effect of crime on the decisions of merchants to accept payment cards, we use time-series crime data from the region where the bank is located.¹⁴ For our crime data, we use robberies and assaults per 1,000 residents in a given region. If the bank operates in more than one region, we use a weighted average by the number of bank branches in the region. We would expect that as crime increases the adoption of payment cards to increase because payment cards are more secure than cash in the event they are stolen or misplaced.

As for vector R, we also include four regulatory dummies to measure the impact of the different regulations and or agreements between the Spanish government and market participants on interchange fees. These regulatory dummies represent the year when the regulatory intervention was introduced or the implementation of agreements between market participants. The summary statistics for the variables that we use for our empirical model are shown in Table 4.

Merchant Extensive Margin

Theoretical models predict that merchants would increase their acceptance of payment cards when their fees fall if the number of consumers with cards does not decrease along with the expected usage of these cards.¹⁵ If cardholders decrease their participation in card networks or use their cards less because their benefits decreased,

¹⁴ Some theoretical money models suggest that crime may be a reason to move away from cash (He, Huang, and Wright, 2005).

¹⁵ Some authors have suggested that additional sales should be a criterion for accepting cards (Bolt and Chakravorti, 2008b). In the case of debit cards, additional sales may occur because consumers are able to access their accounts at financial institutions when they do not have sufficient cash in their wallets. Credit cards allow consumers to make purchases before their incomes arrive.

merchants may decrease their adoption even if their fees decreased. Furthermore, even if merchants increased their participation in card networks, the resulting interchange fee may result in lower than optimal card usage. Therefore, the merchant discount fee and the total number of debit cards in the network are the first exclusion restrictions that identify the merchant extensive margin.

Cardholder Extensive Margin

The impact of increases in consumer debit card fees on the adoption of debit cards is difficult to measure because consumers do not generally pay a fixed or per-transaction fee. In addition, because most debit cards also serve as ATM cards, consumer adoption cannot be solely attributable to debit card functionality. In other words, even if consumers choose not to use their debit card functionality, they would still have a card to withdraw cash from ATMs. Furthermore, the pricing for transactional services is often bundled and it is difficult to isolate a fee for debit card services separately.

We consider two key factors for debit card adoption. First, the increased merchant acceptance would increase the value of debit cards and may spur greater adoption. Merchant acceptance appears as the dependent variable in the merchant extensive margin equation and it enters the cardholder extensive margin as a lagged explanatory factor. The logic behind this specification is that merchant acceptance and fees may be contemporaneously related while transactions, issuance and usage may be determined by observed previous acceptance.

Second, debit cards become more attractive to consumers as cash acquisition costs increase. Note that because of the dual functionality of debit cards, cash acquisition cost may enable us to tease out debit functionality. Our indicator of increased cash

acquisition costs to a given bank's customers is the density of rival ATMs because cardholders do not pay surcharges at their own banks. Surcharges for foreign ATM withdrawals have been increasing for Spain during our sample period.

Unlike debit cards, credit cards are stand-alone products. Reductions in credit card interchange fee revenue may increase the annual fee cardholders pay to offset lost revenue by issuers. In fact, credit card annual fees have been rising. For example, according to the Bank of Spain, average credit card annual fees have increased from 21.35 euros in January 2005 to 28.43 euros in December 2007. Our empirical model allows us to study the impact of lower interchange fees on cardholder adoption. If consumers do not give up their credit cards, we can conclude that either consumers are inelastic to changes in credit card fees or are willing to pay higher fees if they can use their cards at more merchant locations.

Merchant Intensive Margin

In addition to adoption, we test for factors that contribute to greater number of payment card transactions. For the merchant intensive margin, we use an acquirer's quarterly transactions per POS terminal as our dependent variable. The exclusion restriction that identifies the merchant intensive margin is an interaction term of merchant acceptance by acquirer and the total number of cards in that network. The probability of a card transaction increases when the product of merchant acceptance by an acquirer and the number of total network cards increases.

Cardholder intensive margin

In the cardholder intensive margin regression, we analyze what factors affect greater usage of payment cards by consumers. The dependent variable is the number of

transactions per issuer per card. The key explanatory variable is an interaction term of the merchant acceptance in the network and the number of cards issued by the bank. We include the same control and regulatory dummies as in the other regressions.

Bank revenues

We separate banks into issuers and acquirers for debit and credit cards. Our dependent variables are issuer and acquirer payment card revenue by type of card. For issuers, this would be the product of the average interchange fees and the number of transactions and total annual fees collected (only for credit cards). For acquirers, this would be the difference between the merchant discount charged and the interchange fee paid multiplied by the number of transactions. Similar to consumer and merchant intensive margin, our explanatory variable for acquirers is one-quarter lag of the interaction of merchant acceptance of a specific acquirer and the total number of cards in the network. Our explanatory variable for the issuers is the number of cards issued by each issuer the quarter before times the proportion of merchants accepting in the whole network. We also include a linear time trend, the crime rate, the rivals' ATM density and bank size as control variables. In addition, we have our regulatory dummies.

6. Our Dataset

Unlike consumer and merchant survey data, we use bank-level administrative data that is less likely to be associated with measurement error. For consumers, we rely on issuer transactional and card adoption data to analyze changes in explanatory variables. For merchants, we rely on acquirer adoption and transactional data to analyze changes in explanatory variables.

We use proprietary quarterly payment card data from 45 Spanish banks from 1997:1 to 2007:4. These data are adjusted to reflect mergers over the period to create a balanced panel by backward aggregating all premerger data on merging banks prior to their merger. In total, there are 1,980 panel observations. The database contains quarterly bank-level information on payment cards, ATMs, POS terminals and related transactions volumes and values as well as prices for debit (interchange and merchant fees) and credit card transactions (interchange fees, merchant fees and annual credit card fees). It also contains time-series data on merchant acceptance for debit and credit cards.

Since most of the banks in the sample operate in different regions, the variable for merchant acceptance by acquirer has been computed as an (branch weighted) average of merchant acceptance in the different regions where the (acquirer) bank operates. Similarly, the variable for merchant acceptance at the network level has been computed as a branch-weighted average of the percentage of merchants accepting cards for purchase transactions in the regions where the bank or any other banks belonging to the same network operate over the total number of merchants in those regions.

Additionally, although the maximum and minimum thresholds of interchange fees for different merchant activities is set at the network level, the average bank-level merchant fee varies depending on the actual fee charged and the proportion of the bank's POS debit and credit transactions by merchant sector. Therefore, the merchant discount fee charged by a bank is computed as a transaction weighted-average of merchant discount fees charged by the bank in the different merchant sectors accepting the bank's POS machines.

¹⁶ Our sample banks represented 56.7% of total card payment transactions in 1997 and 64.8% in 2007 when compared to the aggregate date provided by the Bank of Spain.

We are also able to incorporate the availability of cash infrastructure such as ATMs into our analysis. The database also contains information on ATM density that allows computing a rival ATM density variable as a proxy of the relative costs of withdrawing cash at rivals' ATMs. Some other variables are considered in the database as region-specific control variables that may have an influence on card transactions such as the crime rate. We also control for the four main regulatory changes shown in Table 2 including dummies for those regulatory changes. Table 3 provides the main definitions of the posited explanatory variables.

7. Results

In tables 5-9, we report our regression results. Generally, we find that consumers and merchants benefit from lower in interchange fees during our sample period because an increase in merchant card acceptance results in greater adoption and usage of payment cards. Furthermore, we find that issuer and acquirer revenues increased because lower interchange fees resulted in more transactions. The revenue from increased transactions offsets the decrease in per-transaction revenue for issuers during our sample period. For acquirers, the percentage difference between the merchant discount and the interchange fee remained steady for a significant part of our sample. We will first discuss debit card extensive and intensive margins and then discuss our credit card results.

Debit Card Adoption and Usage

Our empirical analysis strongly suggests that government mandated or encouraged reductions in interchange fees resulted in lower merchant debit card fees and greater merchant debit card acceptance (see table 5). Specifically, a 10 percent reduction

in the rate of decline in the average merchant discount fee by an acquirer resulted in a .43 percent rate of increase in merchant acceptance. Neither bank size nor crime is statistically significant.

The signs of all the regulatory dummies except for 1999 suggest that lower interchange fees strongly impacted the rate of merchant acceptance. However, the impact of each intervention was different suggesting that not all interventions were equal in convincing merchants to adopt debit cards. Furthermore, the consistent positive sign on the last three regulatory dummies suggests that merchant acceptance increased with further reductions in interchange fees. Note that in 2005, there was a change in the way debit card interchange fee was imposed from a transaction percentage to a fixed pertransaction fee.

While we are unable to isolate a price effect for consumer adoption debit card services, we find strong evidence to support our hypothesis that consumers value greater merchant acceptance and react to increases in the price of the main alternative payment instrument—cash. Specifically, a 10 percent increase in the rate of merchant adoption resulted in a .36 percent increase in adoption rate of debit cards by consumers. As the rival ATM density increases, consumer adoption of debit cards increases suggesting that increases in cash acquisition costs impacts positively on debit card adoption. Specifically, a 10 percent increase in the rate of growth of rival ATM density resulted in a 1.64 percent increase in the growth rate of debit card adoption.

Now, we turn to the intensive margin for debit cards (see table 6). First, let's consider the impact of interchange fee regulation on merchant transactional volume from looking at acquirer transactional volume per POS terminal as the dependent variable

(table 6, column2). The interaction of merchant acceptance at an acquirer and the total number of cards is significant and positive suggesting that the rate of growth of debit card transactions has increased because there are more merchants and consumers on board because of lower interchange fees. Specifically, a 10 percent increase in the growth rate of merchant adoption resulted in a debit card transaction growth of .36 percent.

All the regulatory dummies are positive and significant suggesting that regulatory intervention increased overall usage at merchant locations. The rate of transaction growth is highest for the period after 2005 suggesting that the later regulatory interventions had more impact on transactional volume at acquirers.

The increase in issuer transactions proxies for the increase in consumer usage albeit imperfectly. The key explanatory variable is the interaction of merchant acceptance and cards issued by a bank. The interaction term is significant and positive suggesting that an increase in consumer and merchant adoption growth rates increases the rate of growth for consumer transactions (table 6, column 3). Specifically, a 10 percent increase in the rate of the interaction of network merchant acceptance and debit cards issued by an issuer resulted in a .46 percent increase in an issuer's debit card transactions per card. Furthermore, a 10 percent increase in the growth of rival ATM density resulted in a .63 percent increase in the rate of issuer debit card transactions per card. In other words, in a cash-intensive country such as Spain, an increase in cash acquisition costs strongly encourages adoption of debit cards.

All the regulatory dummies are positive and significant suggesting that decreases in debit card interchange fees increased debit card transactions for issuers. As before, the later regulatory actions impact issuer transaction volume growth more. Specifically, the

issuer transactional growth rate for 1999 dummy is .096 percent whereas the growth rate for the 2005 dummy is .233 percent.

Both the extensive and intensive debit card margin regressions suggest that consumer and merchant welfare improved when interchange fees were reduced. Not only are transactions occurring at more merchant locations, but each cardholder is using her card more frequently.

Credit Card Adoption and Usage

The underlying dynamics of credit card adoption is significantly different from debit card adoption where consumers had them in their wallets before they started to use them because debit cards also functioned as ATM cards. Reductions in credit card merchant discount fees increased merchant acceptance of credit cards (see table 7). Specifically, a 10 percent increase in the rate of decline of the average merchant discount of an acquirer increased the growth rate of merchant acceptance by 1.59 percent. A 10 percent growth in credit card adoption resulted in a 1.63 percent growth in the acceptance of credit cards by merchants. Note that only the last two regulatory dummies are significant suggesting that the initial regulatory interventions were not as effective in increasing merchant acceptance as the last two.

As our priors suggested, the number of cards issued by an issuer is positively impacted by the number of merchants that accept credit cards (table 7, column 3). Specifically, a 10 percent increase in the growth rate in merchant acceptance increases the growth of credit card issuance by 3.0 percent.

A key result in terms of price effects is that growth in the number of cards issued is not affected by the annual fee. We are unable to disentangle two potential reasons for

this insignificance. First, consumers may be fairly inelastic to increases to credit card annual fees. Second, they are willing to pay higher fees if more merchants accept credit cards. Regardless of why consumers do not respond to prices, there may be benefits to increasing merchants that accept credit cards by imposing higher costs on consumers. These benefits stem from the network externality of merchant acceptance.

We report credit card merchant and consumer intensive margins in table 8. A 10 percent increase in the growth of the interaction term of acceptance by merchants using the same acquirer and total credit cards in the network results in a 2.44 percent increase in the growth of acquirer transactions at the point of sale (table 8, column2). Interestingly, the crime rate is also positive and statistically significant. One cautious interpretation would be that credit cards unlike debit cards are used for large purchases and merchants are more willing to accept them because carrying large amounts of cash is undesirable in high crime areas. The regulatory dummies when significant have positive signs.

We report the consumer intensive margin in table 8, column 3. We find that a 10 percent increase in the growth rate of the interaction term of merchant acceptance in the network and credit cards issued by an issuer results in a 1.93 percent increase in issuer transaction volume. The crime rate also comes in significant and positive suggesting that higher crime rates induce shift from cash to credit cards, which are generally used for higher-value purchases. Similarly, all the regulatory dummies are significant and positive.

Mandatory reductions in credit card interchange fees have improved consumer and merchant welfare as evidenced by greater adoption and usage. We analyze the impact of interchange fee regulation on bank revenues in the next section.

Bank revenues

In table 9, we report our results for bank revenues. In the second and third columns, we report debit card acquiring revenue and debit card issuing revenue regression results, respectively. In the fourth and fifth columns, we report credit card acquiring and credit card issuing revenue regression results, respectively. In both sets of regressions, the increase in the number of transactions is positively correlated with bank revenues suggesting that while per-transaction revenue may have decreased, overall revenues increased because the revenue from increased transactions volume offset the decrease in per-transaction revenue for the time period of our sample.

However, the impact of regulatory dummies is more significant on the issuing side than the acquiring side as also evidenced by the goodness of fit. This result is consistent with the fact that the acquiring side of the business may be more competitive and any reductions in interchange fees would result in an equal magnitude decrease in the merchant discount. We reported earlier that the correlation between the movements in merchant discounts and the interchange fees are close to one. On the issuing side, the reduction in interchange fees is positively and significantly related to bank revenues suggesting that competition may have been too intense on the issuing side resulting in "too high" merchant discount and interchange fees. In turn, fewer card transactions took place at this socially inferior interchange fee.

We present our bank revenue results somewhat cautiously because we are unable to consider additional costs that may have been incurred putting downward pressure on profits. Bolt and Chakravorti (2008a) develop a model that finds lower bounds for merchant fees and implicitly interchange fees based on underlying cost structures. A more complete analysis would consider bank payment card profits instead of revenues. Unfortunately, our dataset does not allow such analysis.

8. Robustness tests

We conduct a series of robustness checks for the empirical results. First of all, we have tried other specifications for the simultaneous equations estimations. In particular, we estimated the system using two-stage-least squares, three-stage least squares and seemingly-unrelated regressions. Although the results were overall qualitatively similar, the goodness of fit of these estimations was far poorer than our GMM estimations.

In the GMM baseline results, autocorrelation tests are included to examine the possibility that lagged values of the dependent variables might affect, at least partially, the current values of these variables. In this case, a "dynamic" specification with lagged dependent variables as regressors could address these feedback effects. However, the values of these tests in all our regressions suggest that the null hypothesis of no serial correlation cannot be rejected and, therefore, do not warrant using dynamic specification. In any event, regressions using dynamic panel techniques were also undertaken and the coefficients of the lagged dependent variables were not found to be significant in any of the equations.

As for our stepwise dummies showing the effects of changes in interchange fee regulation, various alternatives were considered. The dummies were introduced one by one in the equations and the results were very similar to those obtained when they are included altogether. As for the inclusion of time trends, we have also considered a specification with a linear plus a quadratic time trend and the results were qualitatively identical. Additionally, to identify the regulatory changes, a potential disadvantage of the dummies is that they are a stepwise and discontinuous approximation of the regulatory effect across time. Linear splines give a more precise approximation of the effect of interchange fee regulations as a set of continuous linear functions. Therefore, as a robustness check, we reran our regressions with splines instead of dummies. We approximate the splines as the difference in the number of quarters between four subintervals (the regulatory events). The end points of the linearly approximated subintervals are known as "knots" and the specification of the spline is $f(x) = \alpha_i [(x_{i+1} - x)/(x_{i+1} - x_i)] + \alpha_{i+1} [(x - x_i)/(x_{i+1} - x_i)] \quad \text{when} \quad x \in (x_i, x_{i+1}]$ 0 and otherwise, where x is the quarter considered, and x_i are the "knots." The use of splines did not change our results with all the coefficients for the regulatory events maintaining their signs and no statistically significant differences with the estimated values of the coefficients of the dummies in our baseline results.

9. Conclusion

We find evidence that reducing interchange fees have a positive effect on consumer and merchant adoption and usage when merchant adoption is far from complete. While we are unable to study the impact of interchange fee regulation on bank profits, we find that bank revenues increased because the increase in the number of transactions offset the decrease in the per-transaction revenue. Furthermore, there is most

likely a critical interchange fee below which revenues no longer increase. Unfortunately, given our data limitations, we are unable to quantify the critical interchange fee. Interestingly, other market-based solutions may result in maximizing social welfare such as price discrimination based on the benefits received by each merchant and each consumer.

In addition, a richer analysis would include merchant and consumer usage rewards. However, such data is difficult to gather. Given these data limitations, we are still able to shed light on the interchange fee debate when a strong adoption externality exists. Specifically, we are able to demonstrate that when card adoption is low, reducing interchange fees may improve consumer and merchant welfare, and may even increase bank welfare.

However, once merchant and consumer adoption is complete, interchange fee regulation may only result in redistribution of surplus among participants, most notably between banks and merchants. In other words, interchange fee regulation would not necessarily improve social welfare. In this case, we are agnostic about the distribution of surplus among payment card market participants.

References

Armstrong, Mark (2006), "Competition in Two-Sided Markets," *Rand Journal of Economics*, 37 (3), 668-691.

Ausubel, Lawrence M. (1991), "The Failure of Competition in the Credit Card Market," *American Economic Review*, 81 (1), 50-81.

Baxter, William F. (1983), "Bank Interchange of Transactional Paper: Legal and Economic Perspectives," *Journal of Law & Economics*, 26 (3), 541-588.

Bradford, Teri and Fumiko Hayashi (2008), "Developments in Interchange Fees in the United States and Abroad, *Payments System Research Briefing*, Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, April.

Bolt, Wilko and Sujit Chakravorti (2008a), "Consumer Choice and Merchant Acceptance of Payment Media," Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago Working Paper, 2008-11.

Bolt, Wilko and Sujit Chakravorti (2008b), "Economics of Payment Cards: A Status Report," *Economic Perspectives*, Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, 4th Quarter, 15-27.

Calem, Paul S. and Loretta J. Mester (1995), "Consumer Behavior and the Stickiness of Credit Card Interest Rates," *American Economic Review*, 85(5), 1327-1336.

Carbó Valverde, Santiago, David Humphrey, and Rafael López del Paso (2003), "The Falling Share of Cash Payments in Spain," *Moneda y Crédito*, 217, 167-190.

Chakravorti, Sujit and Victor Lubasi (2006), "Payment Instrument Choice: The Case of Prepaid Cards," Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago *Economic Perspectives*, 30 (2), 29-43.

Chakravorti, Sujit and Ted To (2007), "A Theory of Credit Cards," *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, 25 (3), 583-595.

Donze, Jocelyn and Isabelle Dubec (2009), "Paying for ATM Usage: Good for Consumers, Bad for Banks?, *Journal of Industrial Economics*, 57 (3), 583-612.

Gans, Joshua S. and Stephen P. King (2003), "The Neutrality of the Interchange Fees in Payment Systems," *Topics in Economic Analysis and Politics*, 3(1).

Guthrie, Graeme, and Julian Wright (2007), "Competing Payment Schemes," *Journal of Industrial Economics*, 55 (1), 37-67.

Hansen, Lars P. (1982), "Large Sample Properties of Generalized Method of Moments Estimation," *Econometrica*, 50 (4), 1029-1054.

He, Ping, Lixin Huang, and Randall Wright (2005), "Money and Banking in Search Equilibrium," *International Economic Review*, 46 (2), 637-670.

Humphrey, David B., Kim, Moshe and Bent Vale (2001), "Realizing the Gains from Electronic Payments: Costs, Pricing and Payment Choice," *Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking*, 33 (2, Part 1), 216-234.

Humphrey, David B., Lawrence B. Pulley, and Jukka M. Vesala (1996), "Cash, Paper, and Electronic Payments: A Cross-Country Analysis," *Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking*, 28 (4, Part 2), 914-939.

IMA Market Development AB (2000), Study Regarding the Effects of the Abolition of the Non-Discrimination Rule in Sweden, IMA Market Development AB: Frodingsvagen.

Kahn, Charles M. and William Roberds (2009), "Why Pay? An Introduction to Payments Economics," *Journal of Financial Intermediation*, 18 (1), 1-23.

Katz, Michael L. (2005), "Commentary on Evans and Schmalensee," in *Interchange Fees in Credit and Debit Industries: What Role for Public Authorities*, Kansas City, MO: Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, 121-137.

Knittel, Christopher R. and Victor Stango, "Price Ceilings as Focal Points for Tacit Collusion: Evidence from Credit Cards, *American Economic Review*, 83 (5), 1703-1729.

Reserve Bank of Australia (2008b), *Reform of Australia's Payments System: Conclusions of the 2007/08 Review*, September.

Rochet, Jean-Charles (2003), "The Theory of Interchange Fees: A Synthesis of Recent Contributions," *Review of Network Economics*, 2 (2), 97-124.

Rochet, Jean-Charles and Jean Tirole (2002), "Cooperation Among Competitors: Some Economics of Payment Card Associations," *Rand Journal of Economics*, 33 (4), 549-570.

Rochet, Jean-Charles and Jean Tirole (2003), "Platform Competition in Two-Sided Markets," *Journal of European Economic Association*, 1 (4), 990-1029.

Rochet, Jean-Charles and Jean Tirole (2006), "Two-Sided Markets: A Progress Report," *Rand Journal of Economics*, 37 (3), 645-667.

Scholnick, Barry, Nadia Massoud, Anthony Saunders, Santiago Carbó-Valverde, and Francisco Rodriguez-Fernandez (2008), "The Economics of Credit Cards, Debit Cards and ATMs: A Survey and Some New Evidence," *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 32 (8), 1468-1483.

Weyl, E. Glen (2009), "A price theory of multi-sided platforms," *American Economic Review*, forthcoming.

Wooldridge, Jeffrey (2002)," Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data," MIT Press.

Table 1: Recent Trends in Card Payments in Spain (1997-2007)

All the monetary magnitudes are expressed in real terms

	1997	2007
Total Number of Debit Cards (millions)	22	31
Total Number of Credit Cards (millions)	14	43
Total Number of Debit Card Transactions (millions)	156	863
Total Number of Credit Card Transactions (millions)	138	1037
Average number of POS transactions (per card and year)	7.1	27.8
Average number of ATM withdrawals (per card and year)	23.9	32.6
Average Value of Debt Card Transaction (€)	38.5	46.0
Average Value of Credit Card Transaction (€)	58.5	54.3
Average POS density (POS/km ²)	1.28	2.89
Average ATM density (ATMs/km²)	0.07	0.12
Average Interchange Fee (*) (%)	1.71 ^(a)	0.90
Average Debit Card Interchange Fee ^(**) (€transaction)	-	0.40
Average Credit Card Interchange Fee ^(**) (%)	-	0.93

⁽a) Data for 2002, the earliest public data available for the average interchange fees for the entire Spanish market.

Source: Bank of Spain and authors' own calculations

^(*) Average percentage value of total debit and credit, on-us and intersystem interchange fees.

^(**) As a consequence of the intervention of the Spanish Ministry of Industry, Tourism and Trade in 2005, a distinction is made between the applicable debit card interchange fees and credit card interchange fees, with debit card transactions becoming a fixed amount per transaction and credit card transactions continuing to be a percentage amount per transaction.

Table 2: Regulatory Actions Affecting the Setting of Interchange Fees

Year	Regulatory action	Regulatory body	Main implications for interchange fees
1999	REDUCTION OF INTERCHANGE FEES	THE SPANISH MINISTRY OF THE ECONOMY	Interchange fees were gradually reduced from around 3.5% in 1999 to 2.75% in July 2002.
2002	INVESTIGATION ON THE SETTING OF INTERCHANGE FEES (MORAL SUASION)	SPAIN'S ANTITRUST AUTHORITY	Following the investigations of the European Commission on cross-border interchange fees, the Spain's Antitrust Authority (the TDC) requested the Spanish payment card networks to provide information on their method of determining interchange fee.
2003	PROPOSALS FROM THE NETWORKS ON THE SETTING OF INTERCHANGE FEES ARE REFUSED (MORAL SUASION)	SPAIN'S ANTITRUST AUTHORITY	The TDC refused several proposals of the networks on their setting of interchange fees.
2005	A REDUCTION OF INTERCHANGE FEES AND A FINAL DATE FOR THE ADOPTION OF A COST-BASED MODEL	THE SPANISH MINISTRY OF INDUSTRY, TOURISM AND TRADE	From January 2006 until December 2008, the maximum level for an interchange fee would be progressively reduced. From 2009 onwards each of the card networks would audit their operations and provide a costbased analysis for debit and credit cards.

Source: Summary of regulatory developments mainly based on the following resolutions: Spanish Antitrust Authority (Tribunal de Defensa de la Competencia, TDC) resolution on the reduction of interchange fees (24 September 1999), Resolution of the European Commission (DG Competition COMP/29373) on the setting of cross-border interchange fees by Visa International (July 24, 2002), TDC inquiries on the setting of interchange fees by the card networks SISTEMA 4B (inquiry A 314/2002) and SERVIRED (inquiry 318/2002). TDC resolution denying the special authorizations on the setting of interchange fees to all Spanish card networks and requiring them to reduce these fees and to adopt a cost-based model (April 11, 2005).

Table 3: Variable Definitions

Debit card merchant acceptance by acquirer (MACCD _{it})	Computed as (branch-weighted) average of the percentage of merchants accepting debit cards for purchase transactions in the regions where the bank operates over the total number of merchants in those regions.
Credit card merchant acceptance by acquirer (MACCC _{it})	Computed as (branch-weighted) average of the percentage of merchants accepting credit cards for purchase transactions in the regions where the bank operates over the total number of merchants in those regions.
Debit card merchant acceptance in the network (MACCDN _t)	The percentage of merchants accepting debit cards where the network operates.
Credit card merchant acceptance in the network (MACCCN ₁)	The percentage of merchants accepting credit cards where the network operates.
Merchant debit card discount fee (MFEED _{it})	Average (transaction-weighted) debit card merchant discount fee charged by the bank computed as the (transaction-weighted) average discount fee charged to the merchants accepting the bank POS device.
Merchant credit card discount fee (MFEEC _{it})	Average (transaction-weighted) credit card merchant discount fee charged by the bank computed as the (transaction-weighted) average discount fee charged to the merchants accepting the bank POS device.
Number of debit cards by issuer (DCARDS _{it})	Total number of debit cards issued by a bank.
Number of credit cards by issuer (CCARDS _{it})	Total number of credit cards issued by a bank.
Number of debit cards in the network ($DCARDSN_t$)	Total number of debit cards issued by the network.
Number of credit cards in the network (<i>CCARDSN</i> ₁)	Total number of credit cards issued by the network.
Debit card transactions at the POS (<i>DEBPOSTR</i> _{it})	Debit card transactions per POS terminal by an acquirer.
Credit card transactions at the POS (CREDPOSTR _{it})	Credit card transactions per POS terminal by an acquirer.
Debit card transactions (issuer perspective) (<i>DEBISS</i> _{it})	Debit card transactions per card by issuer.
Credit card transactions (issuer perspective) (CREDISS _{it})	Credit card transactions (month-end/no interest) per card by issuer.
Rival ATM density (RATMD _{it})	Number of an issuer's rival bank ATMs per km ² in the regions where the bank operates.
Annual credit card fee (AFEECRED _{it})	Average (asset-weighted) annual credit card fee changed by the bank.
Bank size (in the card network) $(BSIZE_{it})$	Number of bank card transactions over the total number of card transactions in the network in which the bank operates.
Crime rate ($CRIME_{it}$)	The (asset-weighted) ratio of robbery & assaults per 1000 inhabitants in the regions where the acquirer or issuer operates.
Bank (debit card) acquiring revenues (BANKDACR)	Acquirer income from debit card merchant discount fees
Bank (debit card) issuing revenues (BANKDISR)	Issuer income from debit card interchange fees
Bank (credit card) acquiring revenues (BANKCACR)	Acquirer income from credit card merchant discount fees
Bank (credit card) issuing revenues (BANKCISR)	Issuer income from credit card interchange fees and credit card annual fees
Regulation dummy 1999 (REG99)	This variable takes the value 1 during the time that the level of interchange fees were reduced by regulation from 1999 to 2002 and zero otherwise.
Regulation dummy 2002 (REG02)	This variable takes the value 1 from 2002 to 2003 and zero otherwise and controls for changes related to the moral suasion pressures following the investigation by the Spanish antitrust authority on the collective setting of interchange fees.
Regulation dummy 2003 (REG03)	This variable takes the value 1 from 2003 to 2005 and zero otherwise and controls for the increasing pressures and moral suasion on the setting or interchange and the refusal of the proposals for special authorization of collective determination of these fees by the card networks.
Regulation dummy 2005 (REG05)	This variable takes the value 1 from 2005 onwards and zero otherwise and controls for changes related to a regulatory initiative on the reduction of interchange fees and the requirement of adoption of a cost-based model for interchange fee setting.
COLIDCES. All variables related to cond payments have been provi	ided by a payment netryout of 45 Chanish bonks. The anima note youighles have been obtained from the

Fequirement of adoption of a cost-based model for interchange fee setting.

SOURCES: All variables related to card payments have been provided by a payment network of 45 Spanish banks. The crime rate variables have been obtained from the Spain's Statistical Office (INE).

EXPLANATORY NOTES:

- All monetary magnitudes are expressed in real terms.

- All variables (except for regulatory dummies are in logarithms)

Table 4: Summary Statistics

	Mean	Std. dev.	Min	Max
Debit card merchant acceptance by acquirer in regions where it has branches (MACCD _{it}) (%)	55.36	2.16	51.15	59.36
Credit card merchant acceptance by acquirer in regions where it has branches (MACCC _{it}) (%)	57.23	1.97	52.12	61.06
Debit card merchant acceptance in the network (MACCDN _t) (%)	58.02	2.02	53.60	61.94
Credit card merchant acceptance in the network (MACCCN _t) (%)	59.37	1.92	53.51	62.49
Merchant debit card discount fee by acquirer (MFEED _{it}) (%)	1.36	1.18	0.36	3.18
Merchant credit card discount fee by acquirer (MFEEC _{it}) (%)	2.03	1.93	1.06	3.56
Number of debit cards by issuer (DCARDS _{it}) (millions)	0.48	0.72	0.02	4.2
Number of credit cards by issuer (CCARDS _{it}) (millions)	0.55	0.94	0.01	4.9
Number of debit cards in the network ($DCARDSN_t$) (millions)	16	5.8	12	21
Number of credit cards in the network (CCARDSN _t) (millions)	20	6.3	10	32
Debit card transactions at the POS by acquirer (<i>DEBPOSTR</i> _{it}) (millions)	11.14	34.18	0.11	88.1
Credit card transactions at the POS by acquirer (CREDPOSTR _{it}) (millions)	12.28	56.26	0.09	94.7
Debit card transactions by issuer (<i>DEBISS</i> _{it}) (%)	1.21	4.16	0.04	10.27
Credit card transactions by issuer (CREDISS _{it}) (%)	1.60	5.21	0.02	12.56
Rival ATM density by issuer (RATMD _{it}) (ATMs/km ²)	0.9	0.4	0.3	1.5
Annual credit card fee by issuer (AFEECRED _{it}) (euros)	15	10	3	35
Bank size (in the card network) (BSIZE _{it}) (%)	1.16	4.02	0.01	11.28
Crime rate (CRIME _{it})	0.37	0.21	0.10	0.68
Bank (debit card) acquiring revenues (BANKDACR) (€ millions)	4.31	2.19	0.08	45.23
Bank (debit card) issuing revenues (BANKDISR) (€millions)	25.43	13.84	0.32	114.15
Bank (credit card) acquiring revenues (BANKCACR) (€ millions)	6.17	3.12	0.11	54.89
Bank (credit card) issuing revenues (BANKCISR) (€millions)	28.06	14.16	0.23	131.12

Table 5: Debit Card Extensive Margins for Consumers and Merchants Simultaneous Equation estimation (GMM with fixed effects)

	Merchant extensive margin (debit cards)	Consumer extensive margin (debit cards)	
	Merchant acceptance by acquirer(MACCD _{it})	Number of debit cards by issuer (DCARDS _{it})	
Constant	0.24E-11	0.21E-12	
	(0.001)	(0.001)	
Merchant acceptance in the network $(MACCDN_{t-1})$	-	0.0363** (0.012)	
Merchant debit card discount fee (MFEED _{it})	-0.0429** (0.005)	-	
Number of debit cards in the network (DCARDSN _t)	0.0015** (0.002)	-	
Rival ATM density (RATMD _{it})	-	.1637** (0.014)	
Bank size (in the card network) ($BSIZE_{it}$)	0.0122 (0.021)	0.0443** (0.018)	
Crime rate (CRIME _{it})	-0.0268 (0.161)	-0.0123 (0.852)	
Linear time trend	0.0193** (0.005)	0.1951** (0.018)	
Regulation dummy 1999 (REG99)	-0.0234* (0.013)	0.0926** (0.011)	
Regulation dummy 2002 (REG02)	0.0116** (0.008)	-0.1425* (0.016)	
Regulation dummy 2003 (REG03)	0.0155**	-0.1007 (0.023)	
Regulation dummy 2005 (REG05)	0.0126** (0.005)	-0.1852** (0.035)	
Adjusted R ²	0.82	0.71	
Sargan test of overidentifying restrictions (p-value in parentheses)	68.58 (0.005)		
AR(1) (p-value in parentheses)	-0.1009 (0.920)		
AR(2) (p-value in parentheses)	-1.237 (0.216)		
* Statistically significant at 5% level ** Statistically significant at 1% level			

Table 6: Debit Card Intensive Margins for Consumers and Merchants Simultaneous Equation Estimation (GMM with fixed effects)

	Merchant intensive margin	Consumer intensive margin
	(debit cards)	(debit cards)
	Debit card transactions per POS terminal (DEBPOSTR _{it})	Debit card transactions per card (issuer perspective)
Constant	0.04E-13	(DEBISS _{it}) -0.03E-10
Constant	(0.001)	(0.001)
Merchant acceptance by acquirer (MACCD _{it-1})X Number	0.0359**	- 1
of debit cards in the network (DCARDSN _{t-1})	(0.004)	
Merchant acceptance in the network (MACCDN _{t-1}) X	-	0.0458**
Number of debit cards by issuer (DCARDS _{it-1})		(0.009)
Rival ATM density ($RATMD_{it}$)	-	0.0630*
		(0.018)
Bank size (in the card network) (BSIZE _{it})	0.0441*	0.0112
	(0.004)	(0.013)
Crime rate ($CRIME_{it}$)	0.1503	0.1130
	(0.323)	(0.692)
Linear time trend	0.1853**	0.1138**
	(0.001)	(0.002)
Regulation dummy 1999 (REG99)	0.0226*	0.0963**
	(0.004)	(0.004)
Regulation dummy 2002 (REG02)	0.1308**	0.0635*
	(0.008)	(0.008)
Regulation dummy 2003 (REG03)	0.0921*	0.1002*
	(0.005)	(0.019)
Regulation dummy 2005 (REG05)	0.2528**	0.2331**
	(0.011)	(0.011)
Adjusted R ²	0.89	0.71
Sargan test of overidentifying restrictions		1.29
(p-value in parentheses)	(0.001)	
AR(1) (p-value in parentheses)	-1.	528
	(0.129)	
AR(2) (p-value in parentheses)	value in parentheses) -1.416	
•	(0.136)	
* Statistically significant at 5% level	(0.1	150)
** Statistically significant at 1% level		
Similaricanty significant at 1/0 tever		

Table 7: Credit Card Extensive Margins for Consumers and Merchants Simultaneous Equation Estimation (GMM with fixed effects)

(Merchant extensive margin	Consumer extensive margin	
	(credit cards)	(credit cards)	
	Merchant acceptance by acquirer (MACCC _{it})	Number of credit cards by issuer (CCARDS _{it})	
Constant	-0.30E-06 (0.001)	0.53E-06 (0.001)	
Merchant acceptance in the network (MACCCN _{t-1})	-	0.2985** (0.007)	
Merchant credit card discount fee (MFEEC _{it})	-0.1585** (0.023)	-	
Number of credit cards in the network (CCARDSN $_t$)	0.1630** (0.018)	-	
Annual credit card fee (AFEECRED _{it})		0.6023 (0.730)	
Bank size (in the card network) (BSIZE _{it})	0.0045* (0.001)	-0.0013 (0.019)	
Crime rate ($CRIME_{it}$)	0.0696* (0.012)	0.0651** (0.018)	
Linear time trend	0.1694** (0.001)	0.1388** (0.042)	
Regulation dummy 1999 (REG99)	-0.0950 (0.011)	0.0372** (0.004)	
Regulation dummy 2002 (REG02)	0.0633 (0.071)	-0.0231 (0.032)	
Regulation dummy 2003 (REG03)	0.1124** (0.055)	0.2651** (0.018)	
Regulation dummy 2005 (REG05)	0.2023** (0.018)	0.2955** (0.009)	
Adjusted R ²	0.87	0.93	
Sargan test of overidentifying restrictions (p-value in parentheses)	152.28 (0.001)		
AR(1) (p-value in parentheses)	-1.198 (0.231)		
AR(2) (p-value in parentheses)	-1.677 (0.094)		
* Statistically significant at 5% level ** Statistically significant at 1% level	1	*****	

Table 8: Credit Card Intensive Margins for Consumers and Merchants Simultaneous Equation Estimation (GMM with fixed effects) (Clustered standard errors by bank in parentheses)

	Merchant intensive margin (credit cards)	Consumer intensive margin (credit cards)	
	Credit card	Credit card	
	transactions per POS	transactions per card	
	terminal	(issuer perspective)	
	$(CREDPOSTR_{it})$	$(CREDISS_{it})$	
Constant	0.10E-07	-0.13E-05	
	(0.001)	(0.001)	
Merchant acceptance by acquirer(MACCC _{it-1})X Number of	0.2243*	-	
credit cards in the network (CCARDSTN _{t-1})	(0.005)		
Merchant acceptance in the network (MACCCN _{t-1})X Number	-	0.1931**	
of credit cards by issuer (CCARDS _{it-1})		(0.002)	
Bank size (in the card network) ($BSIZE_{it}$)	-0.1814	0.0108**	
	(0.226)	(0.003)	
Crime rate (CRIME _{it})	0.0995*	0.0550*	
	(0.008)	(0.016)	
Linear time trend	0.2201**	0.1864**	
	(0.006)	(0.002)	
Regulation dummy 1999 (REG99)	0.0428	0.0792*	
	(0.063)	(0.008)	
Regulation dummy 2002 (REG02)	0.2633**	0.2131**	
	(0.004)	(0.002)	
Regulation dummy 2003 (REG03)	0.1491*	0.1016*	
	(0.003)	(0.004)	
Regulation dummy 2005 (REG05)	0.2950**	0.3056**	
	(0.009)	(0.004)	
Adjusted R ²	0.68	0.95	
Sargan test of overidentifying restrictions	6	6.34	
(p-value in parentheses)	(0.02)		
AR(1) (p-value in parentheses)	-0	.6453	
	(0	.421)	
AR(2) (p-value in parentheses)	,	1.176	
major (p. maso in parentieses)			
* Charlied and In significant at 50/ I and	(0	.192)	
* Statistically significant at 5% level			
** Statistically significant at 1% level			

Table 9: Impact on Bank Issuing and Acquiring Revenues Simultaneous Equations Estimation (GMM with fixed effects)

(Clusteled stalldard	cirois by buil	K III parentines		
	Bank (debit card) acquiring revenues (BANKDACR)	Bank (debit card) issuing revenues (BANKDISR)	Bank (credit card) acquiring revenues (BANKCACR)	Bank (credit card) issuing revenues (BANKCISR)
Constant	0.11E-07* (0.001)	0.09E-10* (0.001)	0.04E-09* (0.001)	0.09E-10 (0.001)
Merchant acceptance by acquirer (MACCD _{it-1}) X Number of debit cards in the network (DCARDSN _{t-1})	0.0362* (0.014)	-	-	-
Number of debit cards by issuer (DCARDS _{it-I}) X Merchant acceptance in the network (MACCDN _{t-I})	-	0.1432** (0.008)	-	-
Merchant acceptance by acquirer (MACCC _{it-1}) X Number of credit cards in the network (DCARDSN _{t-1})	-	-	0.0838** (0.008)	-
Number of credit cards by issuer (DCARDS _{it-1}) X Merchant acceptance in the network (MACCDN _{t-1})	-	-	-	0.1743** (0.005)
Rival ATM density (RATMD _{it})	0.0020 (0.004)	0.00672 (0.005)	-	
Bank size (in the card network) (BSIZE _{it})	0.0837** (0.009)	0.1284** (0.0010)	0.1924** (0.005)	0.0754** (0.004)
Crime rate (CRIME _{it})	0.0346 (0.047)	0.0182 (0.019)	0.0305 (0.034)	0.0310 (0.040)
Liner time trend	0.6684** (0.003)	0.6577** (0.004)	0.5938** (0.006)	0.8036** (0.006)
Regulation dummy 1999 (REG99)	0.0110 (0.011)	0.0439 (0.082)	0.01432 (0.033)	0.0320 (0.077)
Regulation dummy 2002 (REG02)	0.0189 (0.019)	0.0916** (0.003)	0.0316 (0.031)	0.0671** (0.005)
Regulation dummy 2003 (REG03)	0.04461* (0.009)	0.1432** (0.004)	0.0925* (0.010)	0.1946** (0.006)
Regulation dummy 2005 (REG05)	0.031 (0.027)	0.1673** (0.001)	0.1063 (0.012)	0.2838** (0.003)
Adjusted R ²	0.42	0.88	0.44	0.89
Sargan test of overidentifying restrictions (p-value in parentheses)	215.36 (0.001)		184.12 (0.001)	
AR(1) (p-value in parentheses)	-0.6533 (0.510)		-0.7142 (0.493)	
AR(2) (p-value in parentheses)	-0.7760 (0.516)		-0.8471 (0.398)	

^{**} Statistically significant at 1% level

European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.europa.eu).

- 1086 "Euro area money demand: empirical evidence on the role of equity and labour markets" by G. J. de Bondt, September 2009.
- 1087 "Modelling global trade flows: results from a GVAR model" by M. Bussière, A. Chudik and G. Sestieri, September 2009.
- 1088 "Inflation perceptions and expectations in the euro area: the role of news" by C. Badarinza and M. Buchmann, September 2009.
- 1089 "The effects of monetary policy on unemployment dynamics under model uncertainty: evidence from the US and the euro area" by C. Altavilla and M. Ciccarelli, September 2009.
- 1090 "New Keynesian versus old Keynesian government spending multipliers" by J. F. Cogan, T. Cwik, J. B. Taylor and V. Wieland, September 2009.
- 1091 "Money talks" by M. Hoerova, C. Monnet and T. Temzelides, September 2009.
- 1092 "Inflation and output volatility under asymmetric incomplete information" by G. Carboni and M. Ellison, September 2009.
- 1093 "Determinants of government bond spreads in new EU countries" by I. Alexopoulou, I. Bunda and A. Ferrando, September 2009.
- 1094 "Signals from housing and lending booms" by I. Bunda and M. Ca'Zorzi, September 2009.
- 1095 "Memories of high inflation" by M. Ehrmann and P. Tzamourani, September 2009.
- 1096 "The determinants of bank capital structure" by R. Gropp and F. Heider, September 2009.
- 1097 "Monetary and fiscal policy aspects of indirect tax changes in a monetary union" by A. Lipińska and L. von Thadden, October 2009.
- 1098 "Gauging the effectiveness of quantitative forward guidance: evidence from three inflation targeters" by M. Andersson and B. Hofmann, October 2009.
- 1099 "Public and private sector wages interactions in a general equilibrium model" by G. Fernàndez de Córdoba, J. J. Pérez and J. L. Torres, October 2009.
- 1100 "Weak and strong cross section dependence and estimation of large panels" by A. Chudik, M. Hashem Pesaran and E. Tosetti, October 2009.
- 1101 "Fiscal variables and bond spreads evidence from eastern European countries and Turkey" by C. Nickel, P. C. Rother and J. C. Rülke, October 2009.
- 1102 "Wage-setting behaviour in France: additional evidence from an ad-hoc survey" by J. Montornés and J.-B. Sauner-Leroy, October 2009.
- 1103 "Inter-industry wage differentials: how much does rent sharing matter?" by P. Du Caju, F. Rycx and I. Tojerow, October 2009.

- 1104 "Pass-through of external shocks along the pricing chain: a panel estimation approach for the euro area" by B. Landau and F. Skudelny, November 2009.
- 1105 "Downward nominal and real wage rigidity: survey evidence from European firms" by J. Babecký, P. Du Caju, T. Kosma, M. Lawless, J. Messina and T. Rõõm, November 2009.
- I 106 "The margins of labour cost adjustment: survey evidence from European firms" by J. Babecký, P. Du Caju, T. Kosma, M. Lawless, J. Messina and T. Rõõm, November 2009.
- 1107 "Interbank lending, credit risk premia and collateral" by F. Heider and M. Hoerova, November 2009.
- 1108 "The role of financial variables in predicting economic activity" by R. Espinoza, F. Fornari and M. J. Lombardi, November 2009.
- 1109 "What triggers prolonged inflation regimes? A historical analysis." by I. Vansteenkiste, November 2009.
- 1110 "Putting the New Keynesian DSGE model to the real-time forecasting test" by M. Kolasa, M. Rubaszek and P. Skrzypczyński, November 2009.
- IIII "A stable model for euro area money demand: revisiting the role of wealth" by A. Beyer, November 2009.
- 1112 "Risk spillover among hedge funds: the role of redemptions and fund failures" by B. Klaus and B. Rzepkowski, November 2009.
- 1113 "Volatility spillovers and contagion from mature to emerging stock markets" by J. Beirne, G. M. Caporale, M. Schulze-Ghattas and N. Spagnolo, November 2009.
- III4 "Explaining government revenue windfalls and shortfalls: an analysis for selected EU countries" by R. Morris, C. Rodrigues Braz, F. de Castro, S. Jonk, J. Kremer, S. Linehan, M. Rosaria Marino, C. Schalck and O. Tkacevs.
- 1115 "Estimation and forecasting in large datasets with conditionally heteroskedastic dynamic common factors" by L. Alessi, M. Barigozzi and M. Capasso, November 2009.
- 1116 "Sectorial border effects in the European single market: an explanation through industrial concentration" by G. Cafiso, November 2009.
- 1117 "What drives personal consumption? The role of housing and financial wealth" by J. Slacalek, November 2009.
- 1118 "Discretionary fiscal policies over the cycle: new evidence based on the ESCB disaggregated approach" by L. Agnello and J. Cimadomo, November 2009.
- 1119 "Nonparametric hybrid Phillips curves based on subjective expectations: estimates for the euro area" by M. Buchmann, December 2009.
- 1120 "Exchange rate pass-through in central and eastern European member states" by J. Beirne and M. Bijsterbosch, December 2009.
- 1121 "Does finance bolster superstar companies? Banks, Venture Capital and firm size in local U.S. markets" by A. Popov, December 2009.
- 1122 "Monetary policy shocks and portfolio choice" by M. Fratzscher, C. Saborowski and R. Straub, December 2009.
- 1123 "Monetary policy and the financing of firms" by F. De Fiore, P. Teles and O. Tristani, December 2009.
- 1124 "Balance sheet interlinkages and macro-financial risk analysis in the euro area" by O. Castrén and I. K. Kavonius, December 2009.

- 1125 "Leading indicators in a globalised world" by F. Fichtner, R. Rüffer and B. Schnatz, December 2009.
- 1126 "Liquidity hoarding and interbank market spreads: the role of counterparty risk" by F. Heider, M. Hoerova and C. Holthausen, December 2009.
- 1127 "The Janus-headed salvation: sovereign and bank credit risk premia during 2008-09" by J. W. Ejsing and W. Lemke, December 2009.
- 1128 "EMU and the adjustment to asymmetric shocks: the case of Italy" by G. Amisano, N. Giammarioli and L. Stracca, December 2009.
- 1129 "Determinants of inflation and price level differentials across the euro area countries" by M. Andersson, K. Masuch and M. Schiffbauer, December 2009.
- 1130 "Monetary policy and potential output uncertainty: a quantitative assessment" by S. Delle Chiaie, December 2009.
- 1131 "What explains the surge in euro area sovereign spreads during the financial crisis of 2007-09?" by M.-G. Attinasi, C. Checherita and C. Nickel, December 2009.
- 1132 "A quarterly fiscal database for the euro area based on intra-annual fiscal information" by J. Paredes, D. J. Pedregal and J. J. Pérez, December 2009.
- 1133 "Fiscal policy shocks in the euro area and the US: an empirical assessment" by P. Burriel, F. de Castro, D. Garrote, E. Gordo, J. Paredes and J. J. Pérez, December 2009.
- 1134 "Would the Bundesbank have prevented the great inflation in the United States?" by L. Benati, December 2009.
- 1135 "Return to retail banking and payments" by I. Hasan, H. Schmiedel and L. Song, December 2009.
- 1136 "Payment scale economies, competition, and pricing" by D. B. Humphrey, December 2009.
- 1137 "Regulating two-sided markets: an empirical investigation" by S. Carbó-Valverde, S. Chakravorti and F. Rodríguez Fernández, December 2009.

